Annexure A

STATEMENT OF AGREED FACTS
BY THE APPLICANT AND THE RESPONDENT

FEDERAL COURT OF AUSTRALIA
DISTRICT REGISTRY: VICTORIA
DIVISION: GENERAL NO VID 1347 OF 2018

THE COMMISSIONER OF TAXATION OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA

Applicant

KALANGALUPE PAVIHI
Respondent

PART |  INTRODUCTION AND ADMISSION OF CONTRAVENTIONS

1.  This statement of agreed facts is filed jointly by:

1.1. the applicant, the Commissioner of Taxation of the Commonweaith of Australia
(Commissioner); and

1.2. the respondent, Kalangalupe Pavihi (Ms Pavihi).
2 It sets out:
2.1. admissions by Ms Pavihi; and

2.2. the relevant facts agreed between the parties, pursuant to s 191 of the Evidence
Act 1995 (Cth) (Evidence Act).

3. By these proceedings, the Commissioner alleges that in the period from September
2016 to August 2017, Ms Pavihi contravened s 68B(1) of the Superannuation Industry
{Supervision) Act 1993 {Cth) (SIS Act) by promoting schemes in respect of self-
managed superannuation funds (SMSFs) that resulted, or were likely to result, in
payments being made from regulated superannuation funds, which were not in
accordance with the payment standards prescribed under s 31(1) of the SIS Act and
contained in Part 6 of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Regulations 1994
(Cth) (SIS Regs) (Payment Standards).
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4. Ms Pavihi admits the matters pleaded in paragraphs 1 to 289 of the Statement of Claim
dated 17 May 2018 and admits, for the purposes of the proceedings, that:

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4,

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

4.9
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hetween September and November 2016, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS
Act by promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment
of Toma Kite’s preserved benefits being made from the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between September and November 20186, she contravened s 68B(1} of the SIS
Act by promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment
of Lino Moata'Ane Tu'ltufu’'s preserved benefits being made from the Tuitufu
Pahulu Kite Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment
Standards;

between September and November 2016, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS
Act by promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment
of Tupou Lakepa Tu'ltufu’s preserved benefits being made from the Tuitufu
Pahulu Kite Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment
Standards;

between September and November 2016, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS
Act by promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment
of Angahiki Foou Pahulu’s preserved benefits being made from the Tuitufu
Pahulu Kite Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment
Standards;

between January and February 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act
by promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Fakauo-'I-Ha'Amalo’ Uhatafe’s preserved benefits being made from the Uhatafe
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

hetween January and February 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act
hy promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Siahi Wendy Uhatafe's preserved benefits being made from the Uhatafe
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

in January 2017, she contravened s 68B{1) of the SIS Act by promoting a
scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of Jenner
Crayenza's preserved benefits being made from the Orayenza Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

in February 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by promoting a
scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of llaisaane Van
Gestel's preserved benefits being made from the Fonohema Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

in February 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by premoting a
scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of Ofa Pahuiu’s
preserved benefits being made from the Fonohema Superfund otherwise than in
accordance with the Payment Standards;



4.10.

412.

4.13.

4.14.

4.15.

4.16.

4.17.

4.18.

4.19.

34485546

between February and April 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of Uate
Tupou's preserved benefits being made from the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

. between February and April 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by

prometing a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Robert Dicks Kolofale's preserved benefits being made from the Kolofale &
Tupou Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between March and April 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
loane Maka's preserved benefits being made from the Atelea Maka Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between March and April 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting & scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Susan Maka's preserved benefits being made from the Atelea Maka Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

in April 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by promoting a scheme
which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of Mele Eke Ngungutau's
preserved benefits being made from the Ngungutau & Aviga Superfund otherwise
than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

in April 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by promoting a scheme
which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of Petulisa Finehika Aviga's
preserved benefits being made from the Ngungutau & Aviga Superfund otherwise
than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between June and July 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Patelisio Fonua Loloa's preserved benefits being made from the Patelisio Loloa
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between June and July 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Katinia Loloa's preserved benefits being made from the Patelisio Loloa
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between June and July 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result in payment of lvoni Tupou’s
preserved benefits being made from the Tupou & Tolu Superfund otherwise than
in accordance with the Payment Standards;

between June and July 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result in payment of Solomone Tupou's
preserved benefits being made from the Tupou & Tolu Superfund otherwise than
in accordance with the Payment Standards;
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4.20. between July and August 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme was likely to result, and did result, in payment of Laumanu
Moli Walter's preserved benefits being made from the Walter Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

4.21. between July and August 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result, and did result, in payment of
Siaosi Matakaionga Walter's preserved benefits being made from the Walter
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards;

4.22. between July and August 2017, she contravened s 68B(1) of the SIS Act by
promoting a scheme which was likely to result in payment of Eseta
Taupeamuhu's preserved benefits being made from the Taupeamuhu Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

PART Il FACTS GOING TO EACH CONTRAVENTION

Ms Pavihi's usual practice

23 In the period September 2016 to August 2017, Ms Pavihi engaged in the practice
described at paragraphs 6 to 9 below in relation to the establishment of SMSFs for the
abovementioned persons (her Usual Practice).

6. Ms Pavihi:

6.1. discussed the establishment of an SMSF with one or more of the intended
trustees of the proposed SMSF for the purpose of the intended trustees
accessing or gaining control over their superannuation funds;

6.2. obtained relevant personal details of the intended trustees and used those details
to complete an online application form on ESuperfund’s website;

6.3. received pre-populated documents for the establishment of the SMSF, which had
been prepared by ESuperfund and provided to Ms Pavihi following receipt of the
online application;

6.4. handed or otherwise provided the documents, or at least signature pages for
those documents, to the intended trustees for them to execute/sign;

6.5. obtained the executed/signed documents or signature pages from the intended
trustees;

6.6. lodged the signed documents or signature pages with ESuperfund to enable
ESuperfund to complete the establishment of the SMSF as a self-managed
superannuation fund within the meaning of s 17A and s 17B of the SIS Actand a
regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s 19 of the SIS Act; and

6.7. provided to ESuperfund, as required, further information necessary to complete
the establishment of the SMSF.
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Ms Pavihi conveyed to intended trustees by the conduct described in paragraph 6, and
statements made in the course of that conduct, that she had the relevant skills and
experience to establish SMSFs and could, accordingly, be relied upon to inform and
advise the trustees as to the lawful use of, and access to, funds of the SMSF.

Ms Pavihi is not, and has never been, a registered tax agent, the holder of an
Australian financial services licence or an authorised representative of an Australian
financial services licensee.

Ms Pavihi did not:

9.1. provide the intended trustees with copies of the signed documents, or advise the
intended trustees how they could obtain copies, though she understood
(incorrectly) that ESuperfund would be providing copies to the intended trustees;

9.2. ensure, or take steps to ensure, that the intended trustees read and understood
the documents;

9.3. provide appropriate advice to the intended trustees, or ensure the intended
trustees obtained advice as to how to comply with all their legal obligations as
trustees;

9.4, advise the intended trustees of the possible consequences of paying monies
from the superannuation fund otherwise than in accordance with a lawful
condition of release permitted by the payment standards prescribed under
s 31{1) of the SIS Act and contained in the Payment Standards including the
following caonsequences:

9.4.1. inclusion of the amount of the preserved benefits in their assessable
income;

9.4.2. imposition of interest and administrative penalties;
9.4.3. disqualification as a trustee of an SMSF;
9.4.4. civil penalties of up to 2,000 penalty units; and
9.4.5. imprisonment for up to 5 years;
9.5. make any, or any adequate, checks or enquiries, including by reference to the
trustees' skills, experience, training or education, to ensure that the trustees

understood the matters referred to in paragraphs 9.2 to 9.4 above, such as would
have made it unnecessary for her to take the steps referred to therein.

The Tuitufu Pahulu Kite Superfund — 4 contraventions

10.
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In the period September to November 2016, Ms Pavihi provided services to

Mr Toma Kite, Mr Lino Moata'Ane Tu'ltufu, Mrs Tupou Lakepa Tu'ltufu and Mr Angahiki
Foou Pahulu for the establishment of an SMSF (the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite Superfund)
in accordance with her Usual Practice.




.

12.

13.

14.

16.

17.

18.

19.

In that period each of Mr Kite, Mr Tu'ltufu, Mrs Tu'ltufu and Mr Pahulu was an
employee, had one or more superannuation funds regulated by the Australian
Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) and had never been a trustee of an SMSF.

Mr Kite was employed as a concreter and had preserved benefits of approximately
$12,590; Mr Tu'ltufu was employed as warehouse assistant and had preserved
benefits of approximately $37,650; Mrs Tu'ltufu was employed as an aged care nurse
and had preserved benefits of approximately $12,800; and Mr Pahulu was employed
as truck driver and had preserved benefits of approximately $115,000.

Save for Mr and Mrs Tu'ltufu, who were husband and wife, the intended trustees of the
Tuitufu Pahulu Kite Superfund did not know one another. Mr Kite was a personal friend
of Ms Pavihi. Mr Tu'ltufu was referred to Ms Pavihi by her uncle. Mr Pahulu was related
to Mrs Tu'ltufu.

Further to her Usual Practice, Ms Pavihi gave oral advice to Mr Kite to the effect that it
would be permissible for him to use his superannuation money if he was having
financial difficulties, though Ms Pavihi did not explain to Mr Kite the conditions upon
which someone could access their superannuation on the ground of severe financial
hardship as set out in regulations 6.01, 6.17(2) and 6.18 and Schedule 1 of the SIS

Regs.

As a result of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before 21 December 2016, the Tuitufu Pahulu
Kite Superfund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the
meaning of s 19 of the SIS Act. Ms Pavihi did not receive any payment or other
material benefit from providing those services.

At no relevant time did Mr Kite, Mr Tu'ltufu, Mrs Tu'ltufu, or Mr Pahulu understand:

16.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite
Superfund in compliance with the law; or

16.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On or about 21 December 2016, CBUS rolled over into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite
Superfund preserved benefits of $12,590.47 from Mr Kite's CBUS fund, and thereafter
that amount was deposited into Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA) account
number 087167-19809277 established for the SMSF (the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite CBA
account).

On 22 and 23 December 2016, $12,590 was transferred from that account to Mr Kite's
personal CBA account. Thereafter, Mr Kite used the money to pay for everyday
expenses, such as food and rent.

On or about 3 January 2017, MLC Super Fund (previously, Universal Super) rolled
over into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite Superfund preserved benefits of $37,172.87 from

Mr Tu'ltufu’'s MLC Super (previously, Universal Super) fund, and thereafter that amount
was deposited into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite CBA account,
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25,

26.

On 6 January 2017, Mr Tu'ltufu's preserved benefits were paid out of the Tuitufu
Pahulu Kite CBA account by 4 separate transfers totalling $37,173 to one or more
unknown accounts.

On or about 9 January 2017, Prime Super rolled over into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite
Superfund preserved benefits of $12,808.77 from Mrs Tu'ltufu's Prime Super fund, and
thereafter that amount was deposited into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite CBA account.

On 10 January 2017, Mrs Tu'ltuiu’s preserved benefits were paid out of the Tuitufu
Pahulu Kite CBA account by the transfer of $12,808 to an unknown account.

On or about 16 January 2017, AustralianSuper rolled over into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite
Superfund preserved benefits of $87,108.31 from Mr Pahulu’'s AustralianSuper fund,
and thereafter that amount was deposited into the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite CBA account.

On 17 January 2017, Mr Pahulu’'s preserved benefits were paid out of the Tuitufu
Pahulu Kite CBA account by the transfer of $87,109 to an unknown account.

The payments of Mr Kite's, Mr and Mrs Tu'ltufu’s and Mr Pahulu's preserved benefits
out of the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite CBA account were not in accordance with the Payment

Standards.

By providing services for the establishment of the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite Superfund in the
ways and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mr Kite, Mr Tu'ltufu,
Mrs Tu'ltufu and Mr Pahulu entering into, and carrying out, a course of action which
was likely to result, and did result, in:

26.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite Superfund;

26.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

26.3. paymentis of those preserved benefits being made from the Tuitufu Pahulu Kite
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Uhatafe Superfund — 2 contraventions

27.

28.

29.
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In or around January and February 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mr Fakauc-'I-
Ha'Amalo’ Uhatafe and Mrs Siahi Wendy Uhatafe for the establishment of an SMSF
(the Uhatafe Superfund) in accordance with her Usual Practice.

In that period, each of Mr and Mrs Uhatafe was an employee, had one or more
superannuation funds regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of an SMSF.
Mr and Mrs Uhatafe were husband and wife. Mr Uhatafe was employed as a
warehouse supervisor and had preserved benefits of between approximately $29,800
and $33,400. Mrs Uhatafe was employed as a nurse and had preserved benefits of
approximately $12,500.

Mr Uhatafe was a person who had grown up with Ms Pavihi.




30. Further to her Usual Practice:
30.1. At a meeting or meetings between Ms Pavihi and Mr Uhatafe:

30.1.1. Mr Uhatafe told Ms Pavihi that he intended to use his superannuation
money for renovations and to help family;

30.1.2. Ms Pavihi made statements to the effect that Mr Uhatafe could use the
money in circumstances of financial hardship, but did not tell him that he
could not use the money for his intended purposes and did not explain
to Mr Uhatafe the conditions upon which someone could access their
superannuation on the ground of severe financial hardship as set out in
regulations 6.01, 6.17(2) and 6.18 and Schedule 1 of the SIS Regs; and

30.1.3. Mr Uhatafe understoed from what he was told by Ms Pavihi that it would
be permissible for him to use the money for his intended purposes.

30.2. Mr Uhatafe paid Ms Pavihi $4,000 for setting up the Uhatafe Superfund, being
$2,000 for him and $2,000 on behalf of his wife, via online bank transfer to an
account nominated by Ms Pavihi; and

30.3. Ms Pavihi requested a loan from Mr and Mrs Uhatafe of approximately $3,000.
Mr and Mrs Uhatafe lent Ms Pavihi this amount from monies deposited into the
Uhatafe CBA account (as defined in paragraph 32 below), which monies
comprised one or both of Mr or Mrs Uhatafe's preserved benefits as referred to in
paragraph 35 below,

31. As aresult of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before 1 March 2017, the Uhatafe Superfund
was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s 19 of the
SIS Act.

32. Atno relevant time did Mr or Mrs Uhatafe understand:

32.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Uhatafe Superfund in
compliance with the law; or

32.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

33. On or about 1 March 2017, AMP Super rolled over into the Uhatafe Superfund
preserved benefits of $34,177.97 from Mr Uhatafe's AMP Super fund, and thereafter
that amount was deposited into CBA bank account number 067167-20012169
established for the SMSF (the Uhatafe CBA account).

34. Onorabout 1 March 2017, HESTA rolled over into the Uhatafe Superfund preserved
benefits of $12,585.24 from Mrs Uhatafe's HESTA fund, and thereafter that amount
was deposited into the Uhatafe CBA account.
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35. Thereafter, Mr and Mrs Uhatafe's preserved benefits were paid out of the Uhatafe CBA
account as follows:

35.1. Between 2 March 2017 and 6 March 2017, a total of $21,380.02 was transferred
out of the Uhatafe CBA account as follows:

35.1.1.

35.1.2.

35.1.3.

35.1.4.

35.1.5.

35.1.6.

$18,000 was transferred to a CBA account with a number ending 5157,
being a personal bank account belonging to Mr Uhatafe (Mr Uhatafe’s
personal account);

$1,991.19 was used to repay Mr Uhatafe's son's CBA credit card;
$557.99 was paid to the Liverpool City Council in respect of rates;
$422.13 was paid to Sydney Water;

$218.71 was paid to Optus; and

$200 was paid to Mr Uhatafe's daughter.

35.2. Between 10 March 2017 and 20 May 2017, approximately $26,927 was
transferred out of the Uhatafe CBA account as follows:

35.2.1.

35.2.2,

36.2.3.

356.2.4.

approximately $13,889 was transferred to Mr Uhatafe's personal
account;

approximately $9,918 was transferred to Mrs Uhatafe’s personal
account;

approximately $1,120 was transferred to one or more unknown
accounts; and

$2,000 was transferred to Ms Pavihi,

36. Mr and Mrs Uhatafe thereafter used the money:

36.1. to pay bills;

36.2. for travel expenses;

36.3. for renovations;

36.4. to help family; and

36.5. for a loan to Ms Pavihi as referred to in paragraph 30.3 above.

37. The payments of Mr and Mrs Uhatafe’s preserved benefits out of the Uhatafe CBA
account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards,

34485546
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38.

By providing services for the establishment of the Uhatafe Superfund in the ways and
circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mr and Mrs Uhatafe entering
into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result, and did result, in:

38.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Uhatafe Superfund;

38.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

38.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Uhatafe Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Orayenza Superfund — 1 contravention

39. In January 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mr Jenner Orayenza for the
establishment of an SMSF (the Orayenza Superfund} in accordance with her Usual
Practice.

40. As al January 2017, Mr Orayenza was employed as a body maker and mechanic, had
two superannuation funds regulated by APRA with preserved benefits of between
approximately $132,000 and $133,000, and had never been a trustee of an SMSF.

41. Mr Orayenza was referred to Ms Pavihi by her uncle, Polo Loloa, who worked with Mr
Orayenza.

42.  Further to her Usual Practice:

42.1. at meetings between Ms Pavihi and Mr Orayenza in or about January 2017:

42.1.1. Mr Orayenza told Ms Pavihi that he intended to use his superannuation
money to renovate his home;

42.1.2. Ms Pavihi made statements to the effect that Mr Orayenza could use the
money in circumstances of financial hardship, but did not tell him that he
could not use the money for his intended purposes and did not explain
to Mr Orayenza the conditions upon which someone could access their
superannuation on the ground of severe financial hardship as set out in
regulations 6.01, 6.17(2) and 6.18 and Schedule 1 of the SIS Regs; and

42.1.3. Mr Orayenza understoed from what he was told by Ms Pavihi that it
would be permissible for him to use the money for his intended
purposes.

42.1.4.

42.1.5. Ms Pavihi requested that Mr Orayenza pay Ms Pavihi approximately
$600 upfront and a further $700 after Mr Orayenza had rolled over his
super into the Orayenza Superfund; and
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43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

49,

50.

42.1.6. prior to the establishment of the Orayenza Superfund, Mr Orayenza met
Ms Pavihi at a shopping centre in Chuilora, Sydney, and paid Ms Pavihi
approximately $600 in cash;

42.2. at a meeting between Ms Pavihi and Mr Orayenza in or about February 2017,
Mr Orayenza met Ms Pavihi in Parramatta, Sydney, and paid Ms Pavihi
approximately $700 in cash.

On 16 January 2017, Orayenza Pty Ltd was incorporated with Mr Orayenza as the sole
director, secretary and shareholder.

As a result of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before 31 January 2017, the Orayenza
Supefund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s
19 of the SIS Act.

At no relevant time did Mr Orayenza understand:

45.1. his legal obligations as the sole director of the corporate trustee so as to manage
the Orayenza Superfund in compliance with the law; or

45.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On or about 31 January 2017, AustralianSuper rolled over into the Orayenza
Superfund preserved benefits of $108,935.61 from Mr Orayenza's AustralianSuper
fund, and thereafter that amount was deposited into CBA account number 067167-
19933526 established for the SMSF{the Orayenza CBA account).

Mr Orayenza's preserved benefits were paid out of the Orayenza CBA account
between 1 February 2017 and 8 August 2017, when $111,240 was transferred from the

Orayenza CBA account to Mr Orayenza's personal accounts or one or more unknown
accounts.

Those preserved benefits were thereafter used by Mr Orayenza as follows:
48.1. approximately $91,500 for renovations to Mr Orayenza's home; and
48.2. more than $3,000 paid to Ms Pavihi by way of loans.

The payment of Mr Orayenza's preserved benefits out of the Orayenza CBA account
was not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

By providing services for the establishment of the Orayenza Superfund in the ways and
circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated Mr Orayenza entering into, and carrying
out, a course of action which was likely to result, and did result, in:

50.1. him becoming the sole director of the corporate trustee of the Orayenza
Superfund;
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50.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by him in his APRA
regulated superannuation fund; and

50.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Orayenza Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Fonohema Superfund - 2 contraventions

51.

52.

53.

55.

56.

In or about February 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Ms llaisaane Van Gestel
and Ms Ofa Pahulu for the establishment of an SMSF (the Fonohema Superfund) in
accordance with her Usual Practice.

As at February 2017, each of Ms Van Gestel and Ms Pahulu was an employee, had
one or more superannuation funds regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of
an SMSF. Ms Van Gestel was employed as a warehouse manager and had preserved
benefits of approximately $108,845. Ms Pahulu was employed as a carer and had
preserved benefits of between approximately $25,175 and $30,175.

Ms Pahulu was referred to Ms Pavihi by her uncle, Lino Tuitufu.
Further to her Usual Practice:

54.1. at a meeting or meetings between Ms Pavihi and Ms Van Gestel in or about
February 2017, Ms Pavihi gave oral advice to her to the effect that she could look
after her own superannuation; and

54.2. in or about August 2017

54.2.1. Ms Pahulu signed a form titled “Invoice Remittance Agent Application
Fee Agent's Copy” in relation to Ms Pavihi's fee for services in respect of
the Fonohema Superfund. The amount payable to Ms Pavihi, as agent,
was specified as $2,000;

54.2.2. Ms Van Gestel signed a form titled “Invoice Remittance Agent
Application Fee Client's Copy” in relation to Ms Pavihi's fee for services
in respect of the Fonohema Superfund. The amount payable to
Ms Pavihi, as agent, was specified as $2,000; and

54.2.3. Lavinia Pahulu, paid Ms Pavihi $4,000 by bank transfer on behalf of Ms
Van Gestel and Ms Pahulu.

As a result of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before 21 August 2017, the Fonohema
Superfund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s
19 of the SIS Act.

At no relevant time did Ms Van Gestel or Ms Pahulu understand:

56.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Fonohema Superfund in
compliance with the law; or
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56.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

57. On or about 21 August 2017, AustralianSuper rolled over into the Fonohema
Superfund preserved benefits of $108,845.87 from Ms Van Gestel's AustralianSuper
fund, and thereafter that amount was deposited into CBA account number 067167-
20015220 established for the SMSF (the Fonohema CBA account).

58. On or about 22 August 2017, HESTA rolled over into the Fonohema Superfund
preserved benefits of $13,075.93 from Ms Pahulu's HESTA fund, and thereafter that
amount was deposited into the Fonohema CBA account.

53. Between 23 August 2017 and 24 July 2018, $61,920 was paid out of the Fonchema
CBA account in 4 separate transactions, of which:

59.1. at least $48,844.07 was Ms Van Gestel's preserved benefits; and

59.2. an unknown amount of no more than $13,075 was Ms Pahulu’s preserved
benefits.

60. Ms Van Gestel thereafter used her preserved benefits as follows:
60.1. to send to family in Tonga;
60.2. to play poker machines;
60.3. to pay her tax debt; and
60.4. to travel back to Tonga.

61. The payments of Ms Van Gestel's and Ms Pahulu’s preserved benefits out of the
Fonohema CBA account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

62. By providing services for the establishment of the Fonohema Superfund in the ways
and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Ms VVan Gestel and Ms
Pahulu entering into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result, and
did result, in:

62.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Fonohema Superfund;

62.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

62.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Fonohema
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.
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The Kolofale & Tupou Superfund — 2 confraventions

63.

64.

65,

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.
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In the period February to April 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mr Uate Tupou
and Mr Robert Dicks Kolofale for the establishment of an SMSF (the Kolofale &
Tupou Superfund)} in accordance with her Usual Practice.

In that period, each of Mr Tupou and Mr Kclofale was an employed as a concreter, had
one or more superannuation funds regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of
an SMSF. Mr Tupou had preserved benefits of approximately $22,100 and Mr Kolofale
had preserved benefits of approximately $32,700.

Mr Tupou and Mr Kolofale both worked with Mr Kite and were referred to Ms Pavihi by
Mr Kite.

Further to her Usual Practice, at a meeting between Ms Pavihi and Mr Tupou in or
about March 2017 Mr Tupou signed a form in relation to Ms Pavihi’s fee for services in
respect of the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund. Mr Tupou paid Ms Pavihi a fee of $2,000.
This amount was paid from Mr Tupou’s perscnal bank account to a Westpac bank
account at Ms Pavihi's direction.

As a result of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before & April 2017, the Kolofale & Tupou
Superfund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s
19 of the SIS Act.

At no relevant time did Mr Tupou or Mr Kolofale understand:

68.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Kolofale & Tupou
Superfund in compliance with the law; or

68.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On or about 5 April 2017, CBUS rolled over into the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund
preserved benefits of $22,155.07 from Mr Tupou's CBUS fund, and thereafter that
amount was deposited into CBA account number 067167-20160276 established for the
SMSF (the Kolofale & Tupou CBA account).

Mr Tupou’s preserved benefits were paid out of the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund on
6 April 2017 when $22,155.07 was transferred from that account to his personal
account. Mr Tupou thereafter transferred the money to family in Tonga.

On or about 7 April 2017, AustralianSuper rolled over into the Kolofale & Tupou
Superfund preserved benefits of $14,248.79 from Mr Kolofale's AustralianSuper fund,
and thereafter that amount was deposited into the Kolofale & Tupou CBA account.

On or about 12 April 2017, CBUS rolled over into the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund

preserved benefits of $14,355.48 from Mr Kolofale's CBUS superannuation fund, and
thereafter that amount was deposited into the Kolofale & Tupcu CBA account.
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73.

74.

75.

76.

Mr Kolofale's preserved benefits were paid out of the Kolofale & Tupou CBA account
as follows:

73.1. on 13 April 2017, $14,355.48 of Mr Kolofale's preserved benefits was transferred
out of that account to an unknown account; and

73.2, on 21 April 2017, $14,248.79 of Mr Kolofale's preserved benefits was transferred
out of that account to an unknown account.

The payments of Mr Tupou and Mr Kolofale's preserved benefits out of the Kolofale &
Tupou CBA account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

Mr Tupou intended to and did use his superannuation money to help his family in
Tonga. Ms Pavihi says that she was not informed of Mr Tupou's intention, but accepts
that she understood that he was likely in the circumstances to release otherwise than
in accordance with the Payment Standards, and did not give Mr Tupou any advice to

the contrary.

By providing services for the establishment of the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund in the
ways and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mr Tupou and Mr
Kolofale entering into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result,

and did result, in:
76.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Kolofale & Tupou Superfund;

76.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

76.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Kolofale & Tupou
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Atelea Maka Superfund — 2 contraventions

77.

78.

79.

34485546

In the period March to April 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mr loane Atelea
Maka and Mrs Susan Michael Maka for the establishment of an SMSF (the Atelea
Maka Superfund) in accordance with her Usual Practice.

In that period, each of Mr and Mrs Maka was an employee, had one or more
superannuation funds regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of an SMSF.
Mr and Mrs Maka were husband and wife. Mr Maka was employed as a truck driver
and had preserved benefits of between approximately $90,600 and $90,700. Mrs Maka
was employed as a quality auditor and had preserved benefits of approximately
$27,900.

Mr Maka had a connection to Ms Pavihi through his family.




80.

a1.

83.

85.

34486546

Further to her Usual Practice, at a meeting or meetings between Ms Pavihi and Mr
Maka:

80.1. Mr Maka gave Ms Pavihi $4,000 in cash for setting up the Atelea Maka
Superfund; $2,000 for him and another $2,000 for Mrs Maka;

80.2. Mr Maka told Ms Pavihi that he intended to use his superannuation money to pay
stamp duty on the purchase of a house;

80.3. Ms Pavihi made statements to the effect that Mr Maka could use the money in
circumstances of financial hardship, but did not tell him that he could not use the
money for his intended purposes and did not explain to Mr Maka the conditions
upon which someone could access their superannuation on the ground of severe
financial hardship as set out in regulations 6.01, 6.17(2) and 6.18 and Schedule 1
of the SIS Regs; and

80.4. Mr Maka understood from what he was told by Ms Pavihi that it would be
permissible for him to use the money for his intended purposes.

As a result of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before 1 May 2017, the Atelea Maka
Superfund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s
18 of the SIS Act.

At no relevant time did Mr or Mrs Maka understand:

82.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Atelea Maka Superfund in
compliance with the law; or

82.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On or about 1 May 2017, TWU Super rolled over into the Atelea Maka Superfund
preserved benefits of $90,502.17 from Mr Maka's TWU Super fund, and thereafter that
amount was deposited into CBA account number 067167-20195006 established for the
SMSF (the Atelea Maka CBA account).

On or about 12 May 2017, LUCRF Super rolled over into the Atelea Maka Superfund
preserved benefits of $27,969.05 from Mrs Maka's LUCRF Super fund, and thereafter
that amount was deposited into the Atelea Maka CBA account.

Mr and Mrs Maka's preserved benefits were paid out of the Atelea Maka CBA account
as follows:

85.1. on 11 May 2017, a total of $56,500 was transferred out of that account in 4
separate transactions to one or more unknown accounts; and

85.2. on 25 May 2017, $77,512, of which $34,002.17 is referrable to Mr Maka’s
preserved benefits and the remainder to Mrs Maka's preserved benefits, was
transferred out of that account to an unknown account.




87.

88.

Of those preserved benefits, $33,000 was thereafter used by Mr Maka to pay stamp
duty.

The payments of Mr and Mrs Maka’s preserved benefits out of the Atelea Maka CBA
account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

By providing services for the establishment of the Atelea Maka Superfund in the ways
and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mr and Mrs Maka entering
into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result, and did result, in:

88.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Atelea Maka Superfund;

88.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

88.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Atelea Maka
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Ngungutau & Aviga Superfund - 2 contraventions

89.

9.

92.

In or around April 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mrs Mele Eke Ngungutau and
Mrs Petulisa Finehika Aviga for the establishment of an SMSF (the Ngungutau &
Aviga Superfund) in accordance with her Usual Practice.
As at April 2017, each of Mrs Ngungutau and Mrs Aviga was an employee, had one or
mare superannuation funds regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of an
SMSF. Mrs Ngungutau was employed in the aged care industry as a provider of
personal care and had preserved benefits of between approximately $47,100 and
$47,300. Mrs Aviga was employed as a commercial cleaner and had preserved
benefits of approximately $31,900.
Mrs Ngungutau was referred to Ms Pavihi by Mr Kite.
Further to her Usual Practice:
92.1. at a meeting or meetings between Ms Pavihi and Mrs Ngungutau:
92.1.1. Mrs Ngungutau paid Ms Pavihi $2,000 in cash; and
92.1.2. Ms Pavihi gave oral advice to Mrs Ngungutau to the effect that it would
be permissible for her to use her superannuation money to help her
family in Tonga.
92.2. Mrs Ngungutau and Mrs Aviga signed the following documents:
92.2.1. the Ngungutau & Aviga Trust Deed; and

92.2.2. the self-managed super fund trustee declarations.
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93.

94.

95.

96.

897

g8.

99,

100.

101.

As a result of Ms Pavihi’'s services, on or before 16 June 2017, the Ngungutau & Aviga
Superfund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s
19 of the SIS Act.

At no relevant time did Mrs Ngungutau or Mrs Aviga understand:

94.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Ngungutau & Aviga
Superfund in compliance with the law; or

94.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On or about 16 June 2017, HESTA rolled over into the SMSF preserved benefits of
$45,832.70 from Mrs Ngungutau's HESTA fund, and thereafter that amount was
deposited into CBA account number 067167-20361318 established for the SMSF (the
Ngungutau & Aviga CBA account).

On 20 June 2017, Mrs Ngungutau's preserved benefits were paid out of the Ngungutau
& Aviga CBA account by the transfer of $45,832.70 to an unknown account.

Thereafter, Mrs Ngungutau used the money:

97.1. to buy material to build her house in Tonga;

97.2. to pay her father's medical expenses; and

97.3. for her own expenses.

On or about 20 June 2017, AustralianSuper rolied over into the SMSF preserved
benefits of $29,903.54 from Mrs Aviga's AustralianSuper fund, and thereafter that

amount was deposited into the Ngungutau & Aviga CBA account.

On 21 June 2017, Mrs Aviga's preserved benefits were paid out of the Ngungutau &
Aviga CBA account by the transfer of $29,903.54 to an unknown account.

The payments of Mrs Ngungutau's and Mrs Aviga's preserved benefits out of the
Ngungutau & Aviga CBA account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

By providing services for the establishment of the Ngungutau & Aviga Superfund in the
ways and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mrs Ngungutau and

Mrs Aviga entering into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result,
and did result, in:

101.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Ngungutau & Aviga Superfund,;

101.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

101.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Ngungutau &
Aviga Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

Page 1

34485546



The Patslisio Loloa Superfund — 2 contraventions

102. In or around June to July 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mr Patelisio Fonua
Loloa and Mrs Katinia Loloa for the establishment of an SMSF (the Patelisio Loloa
Superfund) in accordance with her Usual Practice.

103. In that period, each of Mr and Mrs Loloa had one or more superannuation funds
regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of an SMSF. Mr and Mrs Loloa were
husband and wife. Mr Loloa was employed as a mechanic and had preserved benefits
of approximately $206,830. Mrs Loloa was unemployed and had preserved benefits of
approximately $3,230.

104. Mr and Mrs Loloa are related to Ms Pavihi.

105. The Commissioner contends that, further to her Usual Practice, at a meeting or
meetings between Ms Pavihi and Mr Loloa, Ms Pavihi gave oral advice to Mr Loloa to
the effect that it would be permissible for him to use his superannuation money to
renovate his home.

106. Ms Pavihi denies that contention, but accepts that she understood that he was likely in
the circumstances to release the funds for an unlawful purpose, and she did not give
any advice to the contrary.

107. As aresult of Ms Pavihi’s services, on or before 15 August 2017, the Patelisio Loloa
Superfund was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s
19 of the SIS Act. Ms Pavihi did not receive any payment or other material benefit for
providing those services.

108. At no relevant time did Mr or Mrs Loloa understand:

108.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Patelisio Loloa
Superfund in compliance with the law; or

108.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

109. On or about 15 August 2017, BT Super rolled over into the Patelisio Loloa Superfund
preserved benefits of $45,815.26 from Mr Loloa’s BT Super fund, and thereafter that
amount was deposited into CBA account number 067167-20479332 established for the
SMSF (the Patelisio Loloa CBA account).

110. Mr Loloa's preserved benefits were paid out of the Patelisio Loloa CBA account as
follows:

110.1. on 25 October 2017, $5,000 was transferred to the Loloa Smart Access
Account;

110.2. on 16 November 2017, $890.42 was transferred to the Loloa Smart Access
Account;
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111,

112.

113.

114,

115.

116.

110.3. between 13 December 2017 and 28 September 2018:

110.3.1. approximately $31,560 was withdrawn at the Mount Druitt branch of the
CBA; and

110.3.2. approximately $9,090 was withdrawn at the Plumpton branch of the
CBA,

of which approximately $39,924.77 was Mr Loloa's preserved benefits

On or about 16 August 2017, AMP Super rolled over into the Patelisio Loloa Superfund
preserved benefits of $3,241.29 from Mrs Loloa’s AMP Super fund, and thereafter that
amount was deposited into the Patelisio Loloa CBA account.

On 19 August 2017, Mrs Loloa's preserved benefits were paid out of the Patelisio
Loloa CBA account by the transfer of $3,241.29 to the Loloa Smart Access Account.

Thereafter, Mr and Mrs Loloa used the preserved benefits to:
113.1. pay for their daughter's engagement and wedding expenses; and
113.2. travel to Tonga for funerals.

The payments of Mr and Mrs Loloa's preserved benefits out of the Patelisio Loloa CBA
account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

Mr Loloa intended to and did use his superannuation money to renovate his home. Ms
Pavihi says that she was not informed of Mr Loloa's intention, but accepts that she
understood that he was likely in the circumstances to release the funds otherwise than
in accordance with the Payment Standards, and she did not give any advice to the
contrary.

By providing services for the establishment of the Patelisio Loloa Superfund in the
ways and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mr and Mrs Loloa
entering into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to resuit, and did
result, in:

116.1. each of them becoming a frustee of the Patelisio Loloa Superfund;

116.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

116.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Patelisic Loloa
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Tupou & Tolu Superfund - 2 contraventions

147

In the period June to July 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Ms |voni Tupou and
Mr Sclomone Tolu for the establishment of an SMSF (the Tupou & Tolu Superfund)
in accordance with her Usual Practice.
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119.
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122.

In that period, each of Ms Tupou and Mr Tolu had one or more superannuation funds
regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of an SMSF. Ms Tupou was
unemployed and had preserved benefits of approximately $17,279. Mr Tolu was
employed as a metal fabricator and had preserved benefits of approximately $133,286.

Mr Tupou is Ms Pavihi's cousin.
Further to her Usual Practice:
120.1. at meetings between Ms Pavihi and Ms Tupou in or about June or July 2017:
120.1.1. Ms Tupou told Ms Pavihi that she intended to use her superannuation
money to travel overseas to visit her father who was having an
operation;
120.1.2. Ms Pavihi did not advise Ms Tupou of the circumstances in which
release of superannuation money was permitted by the Payment
Standards or the consequences of paying monies from a
superannuation fund otherwise than in accordance with a lawful

condition of release; and

120.1.3. Ms Tupou understood that it would be permissible for her to use the
money for her intended purpose.

120.2. Ms Tupou and Mr Tolu signed :

120.2.1. the Tupou & Tolu Trust Deed; and

120.2.2. the self-managed super fund trustee declarations.
At no relevant time did Ms Tupou or Mr Tolu understand:

121.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Tupou & Tolu
Superfund in compliance with the law; or

121.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On or about 10 July 2017, an ATO officer employed in the Superannuation Business
Line, phoned Ms Tupou. During the phone call, Ms Tupou advised that:

122.1. she had set up the Tupou & Tolu Superfund because she had recently
separated and could not afford to pay her rent and her bills, and was planning on
using her super money to cover her expenses;

122.2. Ms Pavihi had assisted her to set up the Tupou & Tolu Superfund; and

122.3. she had paid Ms Pavihi $600.
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On or about 12 July 2017, a Deputy Commissioner wrote a letter to the trustees of the
Tupou & Tolu Superfund, which stated:

123.1. the ATO was auditing the Tupou & Tolu Superfund’s application for
registration to determine whether it was eligible to be registered and whether it
should be registered on Super Fund Lookup, an external register of super funds;

123.2.  until the audit was complete, the Tupou & Tolu Superfund's details would not
appear on Super Fund Lookup;

123.3. where an SMSF's details are not recorded on Super Fund Lookup, superfunds
will not generally allow rollovers into the SMSF; and

123.4. tofinish the audit, the trustees needed to:
123.4.1. call a nominated officer of the ATO; and
123.4.2. provide certain requested documents.
Further to her Usual Practice, by emails dated 31 July 2017, 4 August 2017 and 29

August 2017, Ms Pavihi, using the email address ‘ivoni2pou2010@hotmail.com.au’,
communicated with ESuperfund:

124.1. to request ESuperfund's assistance to provide the documents requested by
the ATO for the audit and to answer any questions asked by the ATO; and

124.2. on 2 occasions in relation to the Tupou & Tolu Superfund’s CBA bank
account, because the ATO required evidence of bank and share trading accounts
for its audit. On both occasions, ESuperfund responded on the same date and
informed Ms Pavihi that at that slage, the CBA bank account and Commsec
share trading account applications were pending.

On 4 September 2017, a Deputy Commissioner wrote to the trustees of the Tupou &
Tolu Superfund to inform them that:

125.1. the audit was finished; and

125.2. the ABN registration of the Tupou & Tolu Superfund was cancelled because,
inter alia, all requested information had not been provided.

At or around the time of the cancellation of the Tupou & Tolu Superfund’s ABN,

Ms Pavihi advised Ms Tupou that the SMSF was not approved and Ms Tupou would
need to open an SMSF by herself, and pay a fee of $600. Ms Tupou declined the offer
to open an SMSF by herself.

By providing services for the establishment of the Tupou & Tolu Superfund in the ways
and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Ms Tupou and Mr Tolu
entering into, and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result in:

127.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Tupou & Tolu Superfund;




127.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

127.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Tupou & Tolu
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

The Walter Superfund - 2 contraventions

128.

129.

130.

131.

132.
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In the period July to August 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Mrs Laumanu Moli
Walter and Mr Siaosi Matakaionga Walter for the establishment of an SMSF (the
Walter Superfund) in accordance with her Usual Practice.

In that period, each of Mrs and Mr Walter had one or more superannuation funds
regulated by APRA and had never been a trustee of an SMSF. Mrs and Mr Walter
were husband and wife. Mrs Walter was unemployed and had preserved benefits of
approximately $51,129. Mr Walter was employed as a quality auditor and had
preserved benefits of approximately $79,368.

Further to her Usual Practice, at meetings between Ms Pavihi and one or both of Mrs
and Mr Waiter, in or about July or August 2017:

130.1. Mrs Walter told Ms Pavihi she was struggling financially and suffering, and Ms
Pavihi gave oral advice fo her to the effect that it would be permissible for her
and her husband to use their superannuation money for financial hardship,
though Ms Pavihi did not explain to Mrs Walter the conditions upon which
someone could access their superannuation on the ground of severe financial
hardship as set out in regulations 6.01, 6.17(2) and 6.18 and Schedule 1 of the
SIS Regs;

130.2. Ms Pavihi gave Mrs or Mr Walter a document in relation to Ms Pavihi's fee for
services in respect of the Walter Superfund. Mrs and Mr Walter subsequently
signed the document and gave it back to Ms Pavihi; and

130.3.  Mrs and Mr Walter paid Ms Pavihi a fee of $2,000 each (a total of $4,000).
This amount was paid from either Mrs and Mr Walter's personal bank account or
the Walter CBA account (as defined in paragraph 132 below) to a bank account
nominated by Ms Pavihi at Ms Pavihi’s direction.

As a result of Ms Pavihi's services, on or before 7 August 2017, the Walter Superfund
was established as a regulated superannuation fund within the meaning of s 19 of the
SIS Act.

At no relevant time did Mr or Mrs Walter understand:

132.1. their legal obligations as trustees so as to manage the Walter Superfund in
compliance with the law; or

132.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.




133. On or about 7 August 2017, Colonial Super rolled over into the Walter Superfund
preserved benefits of $50,963.08 from Mrs Walter's Colonial Super fund, and thereafter
that amount was deposited into CBA account number 067167-20493409 established
for the SMSF (the Walter CBA account).

134. On or about 9 August 2017, Plum Super rolled over into the Walter Superfund
preserved benefits of $69,450 from Mr Walter's Plum Super fund, and thereafter that
amount was deposited into the Walter CBA account.

135. Mrs and Mr Walter's preserved benefits were paid out of the Walter CBA account as
follows:

135.1. Between 7 and 9 August 2017, a total of $10,900 was transferred into the
personal account of Mrs and Mr Walter in 3 separate transactions;

135.2. Between 11 August 2017 and 19 January 2018:

135.2.1. approximately $88,600 was transferred to Mrs and Mr Walter's personal
account; and

135.2.2. approximately $20,920 was fransferred to one or more unknown
accounts,

136. Those preserved benefits were thereafter used by Mrs and Mr Walter for:
136.1. renovations for their home;
136.2. travel to Tonga;
136.3. paying bills;
136.4. paying down their debt, including the mortgage on their home; and
136.5. gifts to their children.

137. The payments of Mrs and Mr Walter's preserved benefits out of the Walter CBA
account were not in accordance with the Payment Standards.

138. By providing services for the establishment of the Walter Superfund in the ways and
circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated each of Mr and Mrs Walter entering into,
and carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result, and did result, in:

138.1. each of them becoming a trustee of the Walter Superfund;

138.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by each of them in their
APRA regulated superannuation funds; and

138.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Walter Superfund
otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.
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The Taupeamuhu Superfund — 1 contravention

139.

140.

141.

142.

143.

144,

145.

146,

147.

In the period July to August 2017, Ms Pavihi provided services to Ms Eseta
Taupeamuhu for the establishment of an SMSF (the Taupeamuhu Superfund) in
accordance with her Usual Practice, with the exception that Ms Taupeamuhu iodged
the documents with ESuperfund by an email sent on 18 August 2017.

In that period, Ms Taupeamuhu was employed as a credit analyst, had two
superannuation funds regulated by APRA with preserved benefits of approximately
$71,622, and had never been a trustee of an SMSF. Ms Taupeamuhu and Ms Pavihi
worked together at Westpac.

Ms Taupeamuhu was Ms Pavihi's colleague and work friend.

Further to her Usual Practice, at a meeting or meetings between Ms Pavihi and Ms
Taupeamuhu in or about July to August 2017 Ms Taupeamuhu told Ms Pavihi that she
was experiencing financial difficulties and wished to access her superannuation, and
Ms Pavihi gave oral advice to Ms Taupeamuhu to the effect that Ms Pavihi could assist
her in setting up an SMSF and transferring her superannuation to the SMSF. Ms Pavihi
did not explain to Ms Taupeamuhu the conditions upon which someone could access
their superannuation on the ground of severe financial hardship as set outin
regulations 6.01, 6.17(2) and 6.18 and Schedule 1 of the SIS Regs.

On 21 July 2017, Taupeamuhu Pty Ltd was incorporated with Ms Taupeamuhu as the
sole director, secretary and shareholder.

At no relevant time did Ms Taupeamuhu understand:

144.1. her legal obligations as a the sole director of the corporate trustee so as to
manage the Taupeamuhu Superfund in compliance with the law; or

144.2. the consequences of paying monies from the superannuation fund otherwise
than in accordance with a lawful condition of release.

On an unknown date, but after 18 August 2017 when the documents for the
establishment of the Taupeamuhu Superfund were lodged with ESuperfund, Ms
Taupeamuhu received a phone call from the CBA in which the CBA advised Ms
Taupeamuhu that she needed to contact the ATO before they could assist with
establishing a bank account for the Taupeamuhu Superfund.

After receiving this phone call, Ms Taupeamuhu decided not to proceed any further
with the establishment of the Taupeamuhu Superfund.

By providing services for the establishment of the Taupeamuhu Superfund in the ways
and circumstances admitted, Ms Pavihi facilitated Ms Taupeamuhu entering into, and
carrying out, a course of action which was likely to result in:

147.1. her becoming the sole director of the corporate trustee of the Taupemauhu
Superfund;
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148.

147.2. the rollover into that fund of preserved benefits held by him in his APRA
regulated superannuation fund; and

147.3. payments of those preserved benefits being made from the Taupeamuhu
Superfund otherwise than in accordance with the Payment Standards.

Ms Pavihi did not receive any payment or material benefit from providing services
described above to Ms Taupeamuhu.

PART Il OTHER MATTERS RELEVANT TO PENALTY

The superannuation regime

149.

150.

151.

162,

153.

The fundamental purpose of the superannuation system is to encourage Australians to
save for their retirement. The objective is to ensure that Australian's have adequate
provision for their retirement and, through this, to reduce the burden on government,
and thereby the community more generally, in providing social security benefits to
persons who have retired from the workforce.

By 30 June 2018 the superannuation system held total assets of $2.7 trillion, of which
$1.774 trillion was held in APRA-regulated superannuation funds and $749.9 billion
was held in SMSFs. APRA-regulated funds had 26.8 million member accounts at 30
June 2018 while the 596,225 SMSFs registered at that time had 1,118,650 members.

The Commonwealth Treasurer's 2015 Intergenerational Report examined the role the
superannuation system plays in reducing the financial burden borne by the community
when individuals retire without sufficient superannuation savings. The report notes, at p
67, that:
Future growth in retirement balances has potential implications for the size of Australian
Government outlays on the Age Pension. In 2013-14, around 70 per cent of people of
Age Pension age were receiving the Age Pension, Of these, 60 per cent were in receipt
of the full-rate pension. As Australia’s superannuation system matures, and compulsory
contributions increase, many Australian workers will retire with much larger
superannuation balances. The proportion of part-rate pensioners relative to full-rate
pensioners is expected to increase. The proportion of retirees receiving any pension is
not projected to decline.

It is vital to the integrity and effectiveness of the superannuation system that sufficient
amounts are saved for use in retirement. In general terms, this means that taxpayer
earnings that would otherwise have been available for ordinary use must be put aside
and preserved.

The 2015 Intergenerational Report modelled, at page 89, that Australian Government
spending on the age pension will increase from 2.9% of gross domestic product in
2014-15 to 3.6% of gross domestic product in 2054-55, equating to $165 billion in
2014-15 dollars. Any reduction in superannuation balances, for example when
members of the community illegally access their preserved superannuation benefits,
will further increase the reliance on age pension and its cost to the community.
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154. The superannuation system recognises and addresses the fact that, given the choice,
many taxpayers, would simply access and use that money rather than having it
preserved for retirement. Accordingly, the system operates on the basis that taxation
concessions are provided to the trustees of superannuation funds, and thereby the
members of those funds, in exchange for the trustees submitting to the regulatory
regime created by the SIS Act and the SIS Regs. This favourable tax treatment of
retirement savings is critical to the effectiveness of the system because it creates a
strong financial incentive for trustees and taxpayers to ensure that superannuation
savings are made and maintained for retirement purposes.

155. A key aspect of the regulatory regime created by the SIS Act and the SIS Regs are the
Payment Standards. The framework provided for in the Payment Standards is
designed to ensure that payments made from, rolled over or transferred between
superannuation funds are used for genuine retirement purposes.

156. The Payment Standards achieve this cbjective by restricting access to superannuation
benefits to situations where a superannuation fund member has met a ‘condition of
release’. These conditions are generally for the purpose of retirement or other specific
conditions such as death, disability or terminal medical conditions.

157. In the case of APRA regulated superannuation funds, there are generally strong
systems in place to ensure that members do not access benefits other than in
accordance with the Payment Standards. As noted in APRA Prudential Practice Guide
SPG 280 — Payment Standards, APRA expects the trustees of funds its regulates to
consider risks arising from processing and paying benefits and address these risks
through its risk management framework. SPG 280 also specifically discusses the illegal
early release of superannuation benefits and outfines APRAs expectations that the
trustees of the funds it regulates will include provisions in their risk management
frameworks to establish robust systems and procedureas that substantially mitigate the
risk of, and opportunity for, illegal early release schemes.

158. One part of the regulatory regime created by the SIS Act and the SIS Regs is the right
granted to individuals to self-manage their superannuation savings by the use of
SMSFs rather than APRA regulated superannuation funds. in an SMSF, the members
are also the trustees or direcfors of the corporate trustee of the fund and are
responsible for managing the fund in all aspects.

159. The use of SMSF's has grown over time. in October 1999 when the Commissioner
became the regulator of SMSF's, there were 197,000 SMSFs with 387,000 members,
and these funds held $55 billion in retirement savings. By June 2018, this had
increased to 600,000 SMSFs with 1.125 million members, and these funds held $748
billion in retirement savings. As a result, a significant proportion of retirernent savings in
Australia now falls to be managed and protected through SMSFs.

The need to deter illegal early release schemas

160. lllegal early release schemes allow access to preserved supsrannuation benefits in
circumstances where a ‘condition of release’ has not been met. Such schemes
undermine the basic objectives of the superannuation system and harms members in
the process. Where superannuation benefits are released and used as ordinary
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161.

162.

163.

earnings, rather than in accordance with a condition of release, those savings will not
be available to the person for use in retirement. This puts at risk that person's quality of
life in retirement and (subject to the provision of government or cutside support) may
impact upon such things as their ability to meet living and health expenses. This in turn
leaves the government, and ultimately the community, to provide support and security
which would otherwise have been unnecessary had the person maintained the
required level of superannuation benefits.

Additionally, persons who access retirement savings through illegal early release
schemes are subject to a number of immediate taxation consequences which reduce
the value of those savings and may lead to significant additional financial burdens.
These include the following:

161.1. Superannuation benefits that are paid in breach of the Payment Standards are
included in the assessable income of the participants. Superannuation benefits
are afforded concessional income tax treatment however the age at which an
individual accesses their superannuation benefits affects the extent of the
concession granted. in particular, an individual who accesses their
superannuation benefits when they are younger than their preservation age
receives less concessional income tax treatment than if they access the same
benefit once they have reached their preservation age. This means that the
illegal early release will generally give rise to a tax shortfall payable in respect of
the increase to the recipient's assessable income.

161.2. There may be administrative penalties imposed, potentially up to 75% of the
tax shortfall, depending on the participants’ level of culpability: s 284-75 and
s284-85 in Sch 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 (Cth) (TAA 1953).

161.8. There may aiso be interest charges (shortfall interest charges or general
interest charges) imposed in respect of the unpaid tax.

In the Commissioner’s experience, SMSFs are particularly vulnerable to misuse
through illegal early release schemes because they can be used to circumvent the
controls APRA regulated superannuation funds use to prevent the payment of
superannuation benefits in breach of the Payment Standards. Because the members
of SMSFs are trustees and directors, they have control over, and responsibility for,
ensuring that benefits are only accessed in accordance with the Payment Standards.
As a result, there is generally a greater risk that members and trustees will use the
assets for purposes other than the provision of retirement income.

The illegal early release of superannuation benefits is particularly difficult to detect
when SMSFs are used given the funds are privately managed. The Commissioner is
reliant on obtaining information from the individuals involved with the fund, for example
the information provided when registering an SMSF and the information provided in
annual returns given to the Commissioner, to identify that illegal early release has
occurred. Given the number of SMSFs within the system, the Commissioner must
allocate his limited resources based on his assessment of the risk of illegal early
release occurring within a particular fund as he does not have the resources to
investigate every payment of benefits by an SMSF.
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164.

165.

Even when the Commissioner has identified that a particular SMSF presents a risk of
illegal early release, his investigation of the issue requires significant time and
resources to complete. To ensure such investigations are accurate, and are fair to the
affected taxpayers and trustees, the Commissioner collects substantial information,
including from third parties such as banks and APRA-regulated superannuation funds
to support any allegation of illegal early release.

Of particular concern is activity which promotes and encourages illegal early release
schemes. The Super System Review, also known as the ‘Cooper Review’', found that
stronger sanctions were required to deter promoters of illegal early release schemes.
The review recommended that both civil and criminal sanctions be introduced to enable
the Commissioner of Taxation (as regulator of SMSFs) to seek civil and criminal
remedies in order to discourage the promotion of illegal early release schemes.

The nature, extent and context of the wrongdoing

166.

167.

168.

169.

170.

171.

34485548

Ms Pavihi has admitted 22 contraventions of s 68B of the SIS Act, involving 11 SMSFs
and 22 trustees or intended trustees. These contraventions spanned a period of some
12 months from September 2016 to August 2017.

Ms Pavihi held herself out as having the relevant skills and experience to establish an
SMSF by discussing the establishment of an SMSF with the intended trustees, taking
the steps required to prepare the required documents, arranging for the signing of the
documents and then lodging the signed documents with ESuperfund.

In all cases except for one (being, the Taupemauhu Scheme), Ms Pavihi
communicated with ESuperfund on behalf of the intended trustee(s). Ms Pavihi took
steps to conceal her involvement, including by using different email addresses, and by
using the intended trustees’ names when communicating with ESuperfund. She did not
declare the income she received in relation to her promotion of the schemes in her tax
returns.

Ms Pavihi made representations to 7 of the intended trustees that their intended use of
their preserved benefits, for example to pay stamp duty, to fund house renovations and
to help family, was lawful. She was aware of the consequences of illegal early release
and, nevertheless, encouraged the intended trustees to illegally access their
superannuation. In some cases, she was incentivised to promote the schemes
because she would be paid a fee for her role.

Ms Pavihi failed to explain the documents she asked the intended trustees to sign and
did not provide them with copies of the documents they had signed. The intended
trustees did not read the documents and did not understand the contents or nature of
the documents, or the legal effect of the documents. Ms Pavihi did not take steps to
ensure that the intended trustees understood the documents or the legal effect of the
documents.

Ms Pavihi, in a telephone conversation with an ATO officer on 1 February 2012,
confirmed that she understood that:

171.1.  the purpose of 2 SMSF is to save money for retirement;




172.

173.

174.

171.2. itis illegal to access superannuation before meeting a condition of release,
such as retirement;

171.3. trustees of SMSFs are required to lodge tax returns and have the fund audited
by an approved auditor each year,

She was also informed during the said telephone conversation that SMSFs trustees
are bound by the SIS Act and that breaches of the legislation can have serious
consequences, such as civil and criminal penalties.

Despite being aware of the legal obligations of trustees of SMSFs and the
consequences of illegal early release of preserved benefits, Ms Pavihi failed to advise
the intended trustees of these things. Ms Pavihi did not make any, or any adeguate,
checks or enquiries to ensure that the intended trustees understood their obligations
and the consequences. The intended trustees did not understand their obligations as
trustees of an SMSF, or the consequences of illegal early access of their preserved
benefits.

The following additional facts are identified and agreed to assist the court to
understand the context in which the above wrongdoing took place.

174.1. Ms Pavihi was at the time employed by Westpac Bank, where she had worked
for approximately 20 years, and for the past 5 years held the position of credit
analyst, which involved work as a customer service operator.

174.2. In 2016/2017, Ms Pavihi had assisted some 68 trustees or intended trustees
in the establishment or intended establishment of 35 SMSFs, inclusive of the
trustees and SMSFs described at paragraphs 10 to 148 above. The total value of
the preserved benefits rolled over and accessed through those SMSF's was
approximately $1.9 million. The Commissioner does not allege in these
proceedings that this broader activity was in breach in s 68B and, it having been
taken into account as relevant context, the Commissioner will not take
enforcement action against Ms Pavihi in relation to any of those further SMSFs.

174.3. Ms Pavihi was living in rented accommodation with her husband and five
children. Her husband was unemployed and drinking heavily. He had subjected
Ms Pavihi to domestic violence over the course of their marriage, which had
escalated to the point of a serious physical assault on Ms Pavihi for which he
received a suspended sentence of imprisonment.

Harms from the wrongdoing

175.

In relation to 19 of the 22 schemes, the affected trustees rolled over, transferred and
dissipated all or part of their preserved benefits. Those trustees will, ultimately, have
less superannuation to rely upon in their retirement. Although in each case the bulk of
the amounts withdrawn from superannuation were for the trustees’ own use, rather
than going to profit Ms Pavihi, any short-term benefit that the trustees may have
derived from access to their funds will have been substantially outweighed by the
significant long-term detriment, and the detriment to the integrity of the compulsory
superannuation regime.
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176. In some cases, Ms Pavihi requested and was paid a fee by the trustee or intended
trustee (generally $2,000) for her assistance in establishing the SMSF and accessing
the trustee’s or intended trustee’s preserved benefits. Ms Pavihi received fees totalling
$21,900 in respect of the 22 trustees or intended trustees, A small number of the
trustees also made loans to Ms Pavihi out of the money they withdrew from their
superannuation. Neither the fees nor the loans have been repaid.

177.

The following table sets out the loss of preserved benefits and the fees paid and loans
made by the trustees and intended trustees to Ms Pavihi:

.Trustee or Amount Amount Fee paid | Loan made

intended trustee rolled over withdrawn

from SMSF

bank

account
1. | Mr Kite $12,590.00 $12,590.00 - -
2. | Mr Tu'ltufu _ $37,173.00 $37,173.00 - -
3. | Mrs Tu'ltufu $12,808.00 $12,808.00 - -

4. | Mr Pahulu $87,109.00 $87,109.00 2 5

5. | Mr Uhatafe $34,177.97 $34,1 ?7.97— . $2,000 $3,000
6. | Mrs Uhatafe $12,585.24 $12,585.24 $2,000 -
7. | Jenner Orayenza $111,240.00 $111,240 $1,300 Approx
{Orayenza Pty Ltd) $3,000
8. | Ms Van Gestel $108,845.87 |  $48.84407 |  $2,000 :
9. | Ms Pahulu T $13,075.93 $13,075 $2,000 -
10.| Mr Tupou $22,155.07 $22,155.07 $2,000 =
11.| Mr Kolofale I $2B,6012?__ $28,604.27 - _ & -
12 Mr Maka $90,502.17 |  $90,502.17 $2,000 i
13| Mrs Maka $27,969.05 $27,969.05 $2,000 -
14| Mrs Ngungutau $45,832.70 $45,832.70 $2,000 -
15, Mrs Aviga $29,903.54 $29,903.54 - -
16.| Mr Loloa $45,815.26 $45,815.26 - -
17. Mrs Loloa I _$5,241 .29 $3,24i_.59 - -
18.] Ms Tupou [No rollover] - $600 -
18, Mr Tolu i [_No roltover] - = -
: E Mrs Walter 550,963.08 $50,963.08 $2,000 =
21, Mr Walter $69,540.00 $69,540.00 $2,000 B
22| Ms Taupeamuhu [No rollover] | - ] -
Totals B iﬂ.Si .ﬂ“ $748,128.71 $21,900.00 $6.000

178. There is a further financial loss caused to trustees who accessed their superannuation
benefits by reason of the taxation consequenceas of the illegal early release of their
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179.

180.

superannuation benefits. Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997 (Cth) (ITAA 1997) and the TAA 1953, the tax consequences of
ilegal early release of superannuation are as follows:

178.1. The amount of the superannuation benefit is included in the recipient’s
assessable income in the year in which the benefit was received, and subject to
taxation under Division 301 of the ITAA 1997. This will give rise to an amount of
tax payable ({the tax shortfall) in respect of the increase to the recipient's
assessable income. The Commissioner has calculated the potential tax shortfall
for the trustees of the SMSFs to total $179,607.

178.2. There may be administrative penalties imposed, calculated as being either
25%, 50% or 75% of the tax shortfall, depending on the participants’ level of
culpability (s 284-75 in Sch 1 to the TAA 1953). The Commissioner has
calculated the potential administrative penalties for the trustees of the SMSFs to
total $44,901, assuming that the penalty assessed to each trustee is imposed at
25% of the tax shortfall for lack of reasonable care. The shortfall penaity may,
however, ultimately be reduced or remitted following the exercise of the
Commissioner's discretion in relation to reduction of penalty or application of safe
harbour provisions.

178.3. There may also be interest charges (shortfall interest charges or general
interest charges} imposed in respect of the unpaid tax. The Commissioner has
calculated the potential shortfall interest charge imposed in respect of the
potential tax shortfall amount, set out at paragraph 178.1 above, to be
$13,330.73.

There is likely to be harm to the general public, by reason of the dissipation of the
trustees’ preserved benefits. This is because there is a burden placed on the public to
financially support retirees in their retirement, who do not have sufficient
superannuation to support themseives.

More broadly, the harms from the wrongdoing are those explained in paragraphs 149
to 165 above by reference to the integrity of the superannuation scheme.

Cooperation and contrition

181,

182.

34485546

Ms Pavihi has cooperated fully in these proceedings by making admissions to all of the
allegations in the statement of claim, joining with the Commissioner in this statement of
agreed facts and joining with the Commissioner in submissions as to the appropriate
penalty. In so doing she has saved a potentially lengthy hearing, avoided the related
costs to the Court, the community and the Commissioner and has avoided the need to
call evidence from a large number of withesses.

The Commissioner accepts that Ms Pavihi's early non-participation in the proceedings
does not reflect an attitude of non-cooperation but arose from the difficult personal
circumstances described below. Since obtaining pro-beno legal representation she has
engaged actively and constructively in the proceedings.
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183. Ms Pavihi accepts full responsibility for her wrongdoing. She acknowledges that it was
serious and that it has had, and will have, significant adverse consequences as
described in this statement of facts. She expresses her remorse and regret for having
caused those harms. She has assured the Commissioner, and assures the Court, that
she will not seek to engage in such conduct in the future.

Ms Pavihi’'s personal circumstances

184. Ms Pavihi's personal circumstances were difficult at the time of the wrongdoing, and
continue to be difficult. Paragraphs 185 to 195, below, contain Ms Pavihi's account of
her personal circumstances at the time of the wrongdoing and at present. The
Commissioner does not dispute her account.

185. Ms Pavihi was born in Tonga, completing the equivalent of Year 11 at secondary
school before moving to Australia in 1988, where she subsequently obtained a TAFE
qualification, and became a citizen. She is 50 years old, with five children aged 25, 24,
22, 19 and 9 years old.

186. At the time of the wrongdoing, Ms Pavihi was working as a credit card customer
service operator at Westpac Bank, where she had worked for over 20 years. Her
annual salary was approximately $60,000.

187. Ms Pavihi is a survivor of domestic violence perpetrated by her estranged husband in
the period approximately 1993 to 2018, which included verbal denigration, punching,
slapping, Kicking, spitting, pushing, being thrown down a flight of stairs, and being
threatened with a knife (escalating during the latter part of that period).

188. The family lost their house in approximately 2011, after Ms Pavihi's husband lost his
job as a factory worker, and they were unable to pay their mortgage. At some point
prior to 2010, Ms Pavihi had obtained an early release of her own superannuation
funds, held with Westpac Super.

189. At the time of the wrongdoing:

189.1. Ms Pavihi was living in rented accommodation with her husband and five
children;

189.2. Ms Pavihi's husband was again unemployed, having suffered a stroke in early
2016, and was drinking very heavily;

189.3. the domestic violence escalated substantially during this period, both in
frequency and intensity — by way of example, Ms Pavihi's husband was convicted
of the offence of assault occasioning actual bodily harm to Ms Pavihi in the
Paramatta Local Court, and sentenced on 15 November 2016 to a term of
imprisonment for 14 months (wholly suspended);

189.4. Ms Pavihi herself was also drinking very heavily;
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190.

191,

192.

193.

194.

195.

(

189.5. Ms Pavihi and her family were in significant financial difficulty, and Ms Pavihi
made numerous inquiries or loans via payday lenders from February 2016
onwards.

Following a collapse at work on 28 August 2017, Ms Pavihi was diagnosed by her
general practitioner with post-traumatic stress disorder associated with domestic
violence. She presently suffers from insomnia, thyroid nodules, haemorrhoids,
systemic arterial hypertension, and chronic pain due to a degenerative disease of the
spine.

Between September 2017 and February 2019, Ms Pavihi was on extended sick leave
from her employment with Westpac, suifering panic attacks, before her employment
was terminated.

On 2 May 2018, Ms Pavihi left her family home in Sydney in order to escape her
husband, and moved with her three youngest children to rented accommodation in
Rye, Victoria.

Ms Pavihi is presently unemployed, insolvent, and a single mother, and her future
earning capacity is likely to be limited (even aside from the impact of any publicity
associated with the present proceeding).

The money which Ms Pavihi made from the contraventions (and similar conduct in
establishing other SMSFs) has been dissipated through personal and family
expenditure, in the circumstances indicated above,

Ms Pavihi intends to file for bankruptcy. Absent some presently unforeseen change in
her financial circumstances it is unlikely that she will be able to pay penalties imposed
on her in this matter.

28 November 2019

, AGS lawyer
of the Australian Government Solicitor

..... [

Kalangalupe Pavihi
Respondent
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